IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

vs.

GERALD JOHN D'AMBROSIO,

Respondent.

Supreme Court Case No. SC04-922

The Florida Bar File Nos. 2002-51,513(15A) 2002-51,610(15A) 2002-51,612(15A) 2003-50,817(15A)

RESPONDENT'S INITIAL BRIEF

KEVIN P. TYNAN, #710822 RICHARDSON & TYNAN, P.L.C. Attorneys for Respondent 8142 North University Drive Tamarac, FL 33321 954-721-7300

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT
ARGUMENT
I. DISBARMENT IS NOT THE APPROPRIATE SANCTION FOR A LAWYER WHO ALLEGEDLY FAILS TO PROVIDE ONE CLIENT WITH COMPETENT REPRESENTATION, IS PRESENT IN COURT ON TWO OCCASSIONS POST HIS SUSPENSION FROM THE PRACTICE OF LAW (BUT DOES NOT PRACTICE LAW) AND FAILS TO SECURE TWO WRITTEN RETAINER AGREEMENTS WITH THE SAME CLIENT WHO CLAIMS THE FEE WAS CONTINGENT IN NATURE
is unwarranted under the facts of this case
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
CERTIFICATION AS TO FONT SIZE AND STYLE

TABLE OF CASES AND CITATIONS

Cases	Page(s)
1.	Daniel Mones, P.A., v. Smith, 486 So. 2d 559 (Fla. 1986) 24
2.	Rakusin v. Christianson & Jacknin, 863 So. 2d 442 (Fla. 4th DCA
	2003)
3.	<u>The Florida Bar v. Barley</u> , 831So. 2d 163 (Fla. 2002) 15,16
4.	<u>The Florida Bar v. Bauman</u> , 558 So. 2d 994 (Fla. 1990)
5.	<u>The Florida Bar v.Brigman</u> , 322 So. 2d 556 (Fla. 1975)
6.	<u>The Bar v.Canto</u> , 668 So. 2d 583 (Fla. 1996) 10,11
7.	<u>The Bar v. Chosid</u> , 500 So. 2d 150 (Fla. 1987)
8.	<u>The Bar v. Chosid</u> , 869 So. 2d 541 (Fla. 2004)
9.	<u>The Florida Bar v. Davis</u> , 379 So. 2d 942 (Fla. 1980)
10.	<u>The Florida Bar v.Gersten</u> , 707 So. 2d 711 (Fla. 1998) 20, 21
11.	<u>The Florida Bar v. Golden</u> , 563 So. 2d 81 (Fla. 1990) 17,18,19
12.	<u>The Florida Bar v. Greene</u> , 589 So. 2d 281 (Fla. 1991)
13.	<u>The Bar v. Hollander</u> , 594 So. 2d 307 (Fla. 1992)
14.	<u>The Bar v. Jones</u> , 571 So. 2d 426 (Fla. 1990)
15.	<u>The Bar v. Maier</u> , 784 So. 2d 411 (Fla. 2001)
16.	<u>The Bar v. Moore</u> , 194 So. 2d 264 (Fla. 1967)
17.	<u>The Florida Bar v. Morrison</u> , 669 So. 2d 1040 (Fla. 1996) 27

TABLE OF CASES AND CITATIONS (cont.)

Cases

Page(s)

18.	<u>The Florida Bar v. Neckman</u> , 616 So. 2d 31 (Fla. 1993)
19.	<u>The Florida Bar v.Nunes</u> , 734 So. 2d 393 (Fla. 1999)
20.	<u>The Florida Bar v. Pahules</u> , 233 So. 2d 130 (Fla. 1970)
21.	<u>The Bar v. Porter</u> , 684 So. 2d 810 (Fla. 1996)
22.	<u>The Bar v. Rose</u> , 823 So. 2d 727 (Fla. 2002)
23.	<u>The Bar v. Thomas</u> , 698 So. 2d 530 (Fla. 1997) 25
24.	<u>The Florida Bar v. Turk</u> , 202 So. 2d 848 (Fla. 1967)
25.	Tutor Time Merger Corp. v. McCabe, 763 So. 2d 505 (Fla. 4th DCA
	2000)
24.	<u>Wintter v. Fabber</u> , 618 So. 2d 375 (Fla. 4 th DCA 1993)

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Florida Bar, Appellee, will be referred to as "the Bar" or "The Florida Bar." Gerald John D'Ambrosio, Appellant, will be referred to as "Respondent." The symbol "RR" will be used to designate the report of referee and the symbol "TT" will be used to designate the transcript of the final hearing held in this matter. Exhibits introduced by the parties will be designated as TFB Ex. ____ or Resp. Ex.

___•

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

On May 27, 2004, The Florida Bar filed a five count complaint against the Respondent, Gerald John D'Ambrosio, which was assigned to the Honorable John Murphy on June 17, 2004, to act as referee and to render a report to this Court. A Final Hearing, as to guilt and innocence was held on May 23, 2005, and a Status Conference was held on June 3, 2005. No separate sanction hearing was held. The Referee served a five page Report of Referee on June 3, 2005.

Count I of the Bar's complaint discussed the Respondent's representation of Karl R. Bachert ("Bachert") and his company, Reecie's Ristorante Italiano ("Reecies"). RR1. In the eleven sentences devoted in the Report of Referee to the representation of Bachert, the Referee noted that there was no written fee agreement between Bachert and the Respondent and that the Respondent was paid \$1,450.00 for the representation and that the Respondent did not return any portion of such fee to Bachert. RR1-2. While there is some discussion in the Report of the potential sale of Reecies and related matters, there does not appear to be a rule violation that attaches to these comments. RR2. However, the Referee does state that the Respondent did not file a corporate bankruptcy for Reecies and that Bachert retained other counsel to perform this task. RR2. Again these facts are not in dispute. While the Report of Referee does set forth rule violations at page three of the Report, the reader is left with having to guess which rules the Referee believed were violated in relation to Count I of the Bar's complaint. However, a reasonable deduction can be made by comparing the Bar's complaint with the Report of Referee and find that the Bar asserted violations of R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-1.1, 4-1.5(a) and 4-8.4(a) and that these same violations are referenced in the Referee's Report at page 3. It appears that the Referee found the Respondent not guilty of any alleged conflicts of interest which was the major theme of the bar's complaint and presentation at trial.

Count II of the Bar's complaint concerns the Respondent's representation of Randy Dennis. RR2. It is agreed among the parties that the Respondent was retained by Randi Dennis prior to his 2002 suspension from the practice of law and that the Respondent agreed to represent Mr. Dennis concerning his arrest for domestic violence for a fee of \$3,000.00, which was paid and that there was no written fee agreement between the parties. RR2. The Referee also finds that there came a point in time where the Respondent was replaced by other counsel and the Respondent does not dispute this fact. RR2. The Referee also recites that the Respondent was suspended from the practice of law by Court order dated January 17, 2002 (effective February 22, 2002) and that such suspension was for 90 days. RR2. The Referee finds that the Respondent "appeared on behalf" of Dennis on March 7, 2002, before Judge Richard J. Oftedal, in Palm Beach County, Florida. RR2. Unfortunately, there is no discussion of the nature of such "appearance" in

the Report. However, the testimony before the Referee was that (1) a day prior to the status conference in question, the Respondent had advised opposing counsel, an assistant state attorney, that he was suspended (TT240); (2) when the case was called the Respondent informed the judge that he was suspended (TT240) and the judge reset the matter for a week later (TT241). It was the Respondent's testimony that another lawyer, Jay Salyer, had been retained to take over the case but that Mr. Salyer did not appear on March 7, 2002 for the status conference and that the only reason he was present in the courtroom was to insure the orderly transition of the client to new counsel. (TT241-242) The Referee fails to set forth with any particularity which rules he believes were violated concerning Mr. Dennis' complaint. However, at page 3 of the Report, the Referee lists several rule violations and by comparing this list to the Bar's complaint one can assume that the Referee found violations of R. Regulating Fla. Bar 3-5.1(g) [Notice to clients regarding suspensions.]; 3-4.2 [Violation of the Rules of Professional conduct is cause for discipline.]; 4-3.4(c) [A lawyer shall not disobey an obligation under the rules of a tribunal.] and 4-8.4(a) [A lawyer shall not violate the Rules of Professional Conduct.].

Count III of the Bar's complaint focuses on the Representation of David Friedman. The Referee devoted five sentences to explain his ruling on this Count. RR2-3. Prior to the aforementioned January 17, 2002 suspension order, the

- 4 -

Respondent represented Friedman in a divorce proceeding. RR2. The Referee noted that after the effective date of the suspension, the Respondent "appeared" on behalf of Friedman on April 17, 2002 before Judge Carlisle in Palm Beach County. RR2. It is uncontroverted and established that the appearance was for a calendar call that had been previously scheduled for that date. TT245. The testimony adduced at trial was that prior to the calendar call, Friedman had retained new counsel, Jay Salyer, and that the Respondent had already informed opposing counsel and his client about his suspension well prior to the calendar call. TT244-245. At the calendar call, Sayler, who had already appeared in the case, was not present before the Court for the calendar call and the Respondent who went to the courtroom because his name still appeared as attorney of record, notwithstanding his withdrawal from the case and replacement by Sayler. TT244-245. The Judge picked a trial date and the matter was tried by Mr. Sayler. TT244. Notwithstanding, the Respondent's direct testimony that he provided a copy of his suspension order to Mr. Friedman and the lack of any testimony to the contrary, the Referee found that the Respondent did not provide a copy of the suspension order to Friedman. RR3

The last two counts of the Bar's complaint concerned the Respondent's representation of Richard Appelman on two distinct matters. In Count IV, the Bar charged that the Respondent agreed to defend a foreclosure action and file a

- 5 -

counterclaim for damages without a written contract to memorialize the party's fee agreement. The Referee found the Respondent guilty of R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-1.5(f)(1) because he believed that there was a contingent fee agreement not reduced to a writing. RR3. Interestingly, the Referee after making such finding acknowledged that the Respondent received no funds from Appelman on either representation and in fact lost \$10,000.00 to him. RR3. While the Referee did acknowledge that Appelman provided a \$70,000.00 check to the Respondent and that the Respondent did advance \$10,000.00 to him based upon the assurances that the funds were good, the Report fails to indicate the fraudulent and potentially criminal nature of Appelman's actions. RR3. In fact, the evidence adduced at trial was that the checks were drawn on an international bank that did not exist. TT275-276.

At the same time as the representation on the foreclosure the Respondent assisted Appleman with a personal injury claim. RR3. The Referee found that the Respondent did not have a written fee agreement on this matter in violation of R. Regulating Fla. Bar 41.5(f)(1). RR3. It also appears that the Referee found a violation of R. Regulating Fla. Bar 416(d) as the Report denotes a violation of same and Count V is the only count of the complaint that contains such a charge. RR3. Unfortunately, the Referee sets forth no facts to explain his reasoning for such a violation. Page four of the Report contains the Referee's sanction recommendation. Without reference to any precedent or any of the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions and without any explanation whatsoever the Referee recommends that the Respondent be disbarred. RR4. This appeal now follows. It is the Respondent's position that the Court should reverse the Referee's findings of fact and guilt as to many of the alleged rule violations and to reverse the Referee's sanction recommendation as it is not in compliance with this Court's precedent.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In this case a Referee has recommended that a lawyer be disbarred, but never gave that lawyer an opportunity to be heard on the proposed sanction or present any evidence in mitigation. If this was not troubling enough the Report of Referee is devoid of any explanation why the Referee is recommending the most serious punishment available in a disciplinary action and the factual findings in the Report are conclussory and short on any real detail.

The Referee has found the Respondent guilty of lacking competence and taking an excessive fee of \$1,450.00 notwithstanding that substantial (and competent) services were provided to the client. In a second client transaction, the Referee has found the Respondent guilty of failing to secure written contingent fee agreements on two cases for that client, but acknowledges that no fees were ultimately paid and the record in this case clearly shows the client admitting that one of the two cases was an hourly fee case. In the potentially most serious charge, the Referee has found that the Respondent violated a prior suspension order by being present in the court room on two occasions when the judges, the clients and opposing counsel all knew of his suspension. However, the record is clear that in both instances, the Respondent did not practice law or give the appearance that he was engaging in the practice of law. Rather, the first matter was reset by the judge without any comment on the client's case and the second

matter (a calendar call) was concluded by the setting of a trial date for the case wherein the case was being tried by the lawyer who had already appeared in the case to replace the Respondent, but for reasons unknown did not appear at the calendar call. While the Court may be troubled by a suspended lawyer putting himself in a situation where he could be accused of practicing law while suspended, this lawyer did not practice law in violation of the Court's suspension order.

The well established precedent of this Court is that in order for disbarment to be the appropriate sanction there must be a finding that the lawyer should never have been admitted to the Bar and that there is no chance for rehabilitation. The record in this case does not support such a finding, especially when many of the charges found by the Referee ought to be reversed.

ARGUMENT

I. DISBARMENT IS NOT THE APPROPRIATE SANCTION FOR A LAWYER WHO ALLEGEDLY FAILS TO PROVIDE ONE CLIENT WITH COMPETENT REPRESENTATION, IS PRESENT IN COURT ON TWO OCCASSIONS POST HIS SUSPENSION FROM THE PRACTICE OF LAW (BUT DOES NOT PRACTICE LAW) AND FAILS TO SECURE TWO WRITTEN RETAINER AGREEMENTS WITH THE SAME CLIENT WHO CLAIMS THE FEE WAS CONTINGENT IN NATURE.

At issue in this appeal is whether a lawyer, who allegedly fails to provide competent representation to one client, who is present in court on two occasions where he does not practice law and with all parties knowing his suspended status, and who allegedly fails to secure written contingent fee agreements on two cases in which the client claims the fee was contingent warrants the ultimate sanction of disbarment. It is the Respondent's position that disbarment is too draconian a sanction under the facts of this case and that, at most, a public reprimand is appropriate. See for example <u>The Florida Bar v. Davis</u>, 379 So. 2d 942 (Fla. 1980) [Disbarment is an extreme penalty and should be imposed only in cases where rehabilitation is improbable.].

A. The Referee's factual findings and recommendations as to guilt are clearly erroneous and lacking in evidentiary support.

It is well settled that a referee's findings of fact and guilt are presumed to be correct and the appealing party has the burden to demonstrate that these findings are "clearly erroneous and lacking in evidentiary support." <u>The Florida Bar v.</u>

<u>Canto</u>, 668 So.2d 583 (Fla. 1996); <u>The Florida Bar v. Porter</u>, 684 So.2d 810 (Fla. 1996).

The Referee without much comment has found the Respondent guilty of a great majority of the Bar's complaint. The Report of Referee is devoid of any real discussion of the facts of the case and instead makes brief conclussorry statements and then lists several rule violations in one paragraph without explaining which violation goes with each distinct count of the Bar's complaint. In short, the Report of Referee is deficient and should not be upheld.

1. THE BACHERT REPRESENTATION

Count I of the Bar's complaint concerns the Respondent's representation of Karl R. Bachert's company, Reecie's Ristorante Italiano ("Reecies"). The Referee presumably has found that the failure to file a corporate bankruptcy equated to a lack of competence in violation of R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-1.1. However, the true facts of this case reveal that to have filed the requested corporate bankruptcy under the circumstances found in this case would have subjected the Respondent to Bar prosecution for making a bad faith filing or worse.

There is no evidence that Respondent was retained in November of 2000 for any purpose. However, what occurred in November of that year was a discussion between the Respondent and Bachert concerning the sale of the restaurant. Bachert's testimony that the parties discussed bankruptcy is not supported by the documentary evidence in this case. The defense submitted letters to Bachert regarding a sale of the restaurant which never materialized. There was no testimony that Bachert or his wife Reecie ever conferred with the Respondent between November 2000 and March 30, 2001. The record is clear that the Respondent had written Bachert's New York Counsel, provided him with documentary evidence regarding UCC filings in Florida, wrote counsel representing Luna's advising that Luna was not a creditor and had no claim and also communicated with Bachert. Although it is true that no bankruptcy was ultimately filed by the Respondent, the reasons and rationale for this was fully explained to Bachert.

Bachert testified that at the time that he retained the Respondent to file a corporate bankruptcy in Florida for Reecies, he also had retained New York counsel to file a personal bankruptcy in New York. TT99-101. It is clear from the record that this fact was not timely disclosed to the Respondent. Bachert testified that the Respondent wanted to file both the corporate and personal bankruptcies in Florida, but that Bachert did not want to file both in Florida.

The Respondent testified that he prepared the initial paperwork for the corporate bankruptcy, but that he did not file same.¹ TT256-257. The reason he did not file the bankruptcy is key to the resolution of the claim of failing to provide

¹ Bachert even admits that he signed the initial corporate bankruptcy petitions. TT199-200.

competent legal services to Bachert. The Respondent testified that there were several very important issues that had to be resolved prior to the actual filing of the bankruptcy. First and foremost among them was the need to review the New York personal bankruptcy filing so that the pleadings he prepared "matched, both in creditors, in debtors, (and) in financial affairs." TT257, 1.12-14. He went on to state that this was especially important because the bankruptcy petitions are filed under penalty of perjury, so absolute accuracy is a fundamental element of the services that need to be provided to a client. TT257.

It came to pass during the Respondent's work up of the file and attempts to secure further information from Bachert and his New York counsel that the list of creditors was wrong and that he created a bankruptcy preference² in that he was personally paying one creditor, Antonio Galante, who was a friend, and that this could have been interpreted as a bankruptcy fraud issue. TT 26. There was no evidence adduced at trial to controvert this testimony in any way.

Further, the unsecured creditor schedules on Bachert's New York Bankruptcy petition contained several falsehoods. First, Bachert listed a debt owed to his landlord for issuing a bad check as a "loan." Worthless checks are clearly not loans and are not dischargeable in bankruptcy. Further, Bachert, listed a

² See 11 USC §547(b). Galante was not a creditor. Payments to him were more than a preference. They were fraudulent. It should be noted that all of the Respondent's concerns regarding the schedules and listing of creditors were ultimately followed.

secured debt to Luna's which Bachert knew to be assigned to a different party. It was these concerns, and others that caused the Respondent to insist upon accurate filings in Florida.

The Supreme Court of Florida has held that "... an attorney's conduct must be somewhat egregious to be considered incompetent and therefore, a violation of rule 4-1.1." The Florida Bar v. Rose, 823 So. 2d 727 (Fla. 2002). In Rose, the lawyer was found not guilty of failing to provide competent legal representation for a variety of tactical decisions that he made during the representation of criminal defendant. In the case at hand, the Bar seeks to discipline the Respondent for his tactical decision not to file a corporate bankruptcy until such time as he was certain that the information he was including in the petition was accurate and would not subject his client to claims of a fraudulent preference. Rose; Also see R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-1.2 and the comments thereto which state that while a client is the final arbiter on the objectives of litigation (the need for a bankruptcy), the lawyer is final arbiter of the means (timing and drafting of pleadings) used to secure these objectives. On the record presented below the Respondent should be found not guilty of a violation of R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-1.1.

The Referee's Report may also have found the Respondent guilty of having collected an excessive fee in violation of R. Regulating Fla. Bar 41.5(a). It is presumed that the thrust of the Bar's argument on this point will be that the

Respondent received a fee of \$1,450.00 and that this fee was unreasonable under the circumstances. However, it is unchallenged by the Bar and by Bachert that the Respondent met with him, communicated with him, communicated with Bachert's New York lawyer, drafted the initial corporate bankruptcy petition and performed other services for Bachert. While there is no testimony as to a reasonable hourly rate or hours expended, one could analyze the \$1,450.00 fee as encompassing approximately seven (7) hours of time at a reasonable hourly rate of \$200.00 per hour for a lawyer who has practiced law for more than forty years.³ In this case the Bar has the burden of proof to demonstrate by clear and convincing evidence that this fee was excessive. The Bar has completely failed to meet this burden. They have presented no direct testimony on the unreasonableness of the fee collected and produced no expert testimony to support their position.

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