#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

V.

The Florida Bar File
Nos. 2002-51,513(15A)
2002-51,610(15A)
2002-51,612(15A)
2003-50,817(15A)
Respondent.

# THE FLORIDA BAR'S ANSWER BRIEF

(On Appeal from a Report of Referee)

LORRAINE CHRISTINE HOFFMANN, #612669 Bar Counsel The Florida Bar 5900 North Andrews Avenue, Suite 900 Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33309 (954) 772-2245

JOHN ANTHONY BOGGS, #253847 Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 651 East Jefferson Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850) 561-5600

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR., #123390 Executive Director The Florida Bar 651 East Jefferson Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850) 561-5600

#

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

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The Florida Bar provided competent substantial evidence to support the referee's findings that respondent violated R. Regulating Fla. Bar 3-5.1(g), 4-1.1, 4-1.5(a), 4-1.5(f)(1), 4-1.16(d), 4-3.4(c), and 4-8.4(a). The bar presented testimony from respondent's clients and introduced documents that proved the allegations set forth in its complaint. Respondent did not advance sufficient evidence to rebut the bar's competent substantial evidence. Accordingly, the referee's findings, as set forth in his report, are well supported in the record and should be affirmed on appeal.

Respondent's due process was not violated by the fact that the referee did not hold a separate hearing specifically and expressly styled as a "sanctions hearing." Respondent had many, many opportunities throughout the referee proceedings to explain and expound upon the circumstances surrounding his misconduct, and any mitigation of same. Indeed, the referee held a full day final hearing, followed by a status conference during which respondent was given a full and fair opportunity to address the referee. Finally, the report of referee in this case is not deficient as the form of the report follows the referee manual distributed by The Supreme Court of Florida.

This Court has held, repeatedly, that bar discipline must serve three purposes: the sanction imposed must be fair to society, it must be fair to the disciplined attorney, and it be must sufficiently harsh as to deter and dissuade other attorneys from similar misconduct. Further, the sanction must have a reasonable basis in existing case law and should be supported by The Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions. The

recommendation by the referee in the instant case adheres to the each of these oft-repeated requirements. Moreover, extant case law presents a rebuttable presumption that an attorney who practices law while suspended acts in contempt of The Supreme Court of Florida, and should be disbarred. As the referee found nothing to mitigate respondent's conduct in the instant case, the presumption of disbarment stands unchallenged.

Given respondent's grave misconduct in the instant case, viewed within the context of his prior discipline, the case law, and The Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions, respondent should be disbarred.

#### **ARGUMENT**

# I. THE FLORIDA BAR PRESENTED COMPETENT SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE REFEREE'S FINDINGS OF FACT REGARDING GUILT.

A referee's findings of fact regarding guilt carry a presumption of correctness that should be upheld unless clearly erroneous or without support in the record. The Florida Bar v. Vining, 761 So. 2d 1044 (Fla. 2000). This Court has the authority to review the record to determine whether "competent substantial evidence supports the referee's findings of fact and conclusions concerning guilt." The Florida Bar v. Cueto, 834 So. 2d 152 (Fla. 2002), citing The Florida Bar v. Jordan, 705 So. 2d 1387 (Fla. 1998). When this Court reviews the record, the party contesting the referee's findings of fact and conclusions as to guilt must demonstrate either a lack of record evidence to support such findings and conclusions, or evidence the record clearly contradicts such findings and conclusions. The Florida Bar v. Feinberg, 760 So. 2d 933 (Fla. 2000), quoting The Florida Bar v. Sweeney, 730 So. 2d 1269, 1271 (Fla. 1998). In the instant case, The Florida Bar presented competent substantial evidence to support all of the referee's findings of guilt.

Respondent, in his initial brief, bases his argument (that the referee's findings are clearly erroneous and lacking in evidentiary support) on his own testimony and documentary evidence, as presented at the final hearing. This argument is ineffective in that an appellant cannot meet his burden of proving clearly erroneous findings by demonstrating that the record contains other evidence. The Florida Bar v. Senton, 882

So. 2d 997 (Fla. 2004); The Florida Bar v. Vining, 761 So. 2d 1044 (Fla. 2000). That is because, in bar disciplinary cases, the referee is charged with the responsibility of assessing the credibility of witnesses based on their demeanor and other factors. The Florida Bar v. Fredericks, 731 So. 2d 1249 (Fla. 1999); The Florida Bar v. Hayden, 583 So. 2d 1016 (Fla. 1991). In the case at bar, the referee listened carefully to the testimony presented, and scrutinized the documents offered into and entered into evidence. Utilizing the discretion reserved unto him, the referee found the bar's evidence to be the more credible. Respondent may not vitiate the referee's determination, as to the weight and substance of the evidence, by arguing, simply, that other evidence exists.

The bar presented testimony from Karl Bachert regarding the corporate bankruptcy that respondent failed to file (TT 97-212). Mr. Bachert stated that respondent told him that he had filed the bankruptcy (TT 106-107,118,99,183). Respondent admitted that he never filed the subject bankruptcy (TT 262), but testified that he did not do so because there were inconsistencies in the schedules (TT 256-265). Mr. Bachert testified as to the accuracy of the subject schedules (TT 102-106). Simply stated, Mr. Bachert paid respondent \$1,450 to file a corporate bankruptcy petition for his restaurant, and respondent failed to do so (TT 98-99,115). Furthermore, respondent refused to return to Mr. Bachert the legal fee he received (TT 100). Respondent testified that he completed some work on the bankruptcy, but provided no evidence to support his claim. As a result, the referee rejected respondent's evidence as lacking in credibility and found that the bar provided competent substantial evidence that respondent did not file the corporate

bankruptcy as he was hired to do. This competent, substantial evidence supports the referee's finding that respondent violated R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-1.1, 4-1.5(a), and 4-8.4(a).

Concerning Randy Dennis' complaint, the bar presented the testimony of Phyllis Folsom, the complainant's mother. Ms. Folsom accompanied her son to all of his meetings with respondent, and to all court hearings (TT 216). Ms. Folsom testified that respondent never informed her son that he was suspended from the practice of law (TT 216). Moreover, Ms. Folsom testified that respondent appeared in court before The Honorable Richard Oftedal in Palm Beach County, and that the judge (who learned of respondent's suspension) told respondent to leave his courtroom (TT 216-219,239). Mr. Dennis had paid respondent \$3,000 for legal representation (TT 216). After respondent's suspension, respondent arranged for substitute counsel at no additional cost to Mr. Dennis (TT 218). However, when respondent contacted the substitute counsel, Jay Salyer, Mr. Salyer asked for additional legal fees (TT 221,224). Ultimately, Mr. Dennis hired another attorney, to whom he paid additional legal fees (TT 224-225). Respondent refused to return the \$3,000 fee Mr. Dennis paid for representation (TT 225). At the final hearing, respondent presented no evidence to support his claim that he gave notice of his suspension to either his client or the court (TT 216,247-248).

Given the evidence provided by the bar, the referee correctly found respondent guilty of violating R. Regulating Fla. Bar 3-5.1(g), 4-3.4(c), and 4-8.4(a). Respondent admitted he appeared in court in Palm Beach County, before Judge Carlisle, at a calendar

call for his client David Friedman (TT 243-244). Respondent testified that he had informed the court and his client that he was under suspension (TT 245-247). However, the bar presented clear and convincing evidence to the contrary (TT 244). Respondent testified that Jay Salyer had taken over the case, but failed to appear at the hearing (TT 241,246). Mr. Dennis presented testimony to the contrary. In both the Dennis and the Friedman cases, respondent could not explain his presence in court on the dates at issue, during his suspension (TT 241-244). Respondent's testimony, which the referee rejected, was that Mr. Salver had taken over both cases, but had failed to appear on the dates at issue, so respondent was forced to appear instead (TT 241-244). Respondent's misconduct, as determined by the referee, is also demonstrated by his own mandatory Rule 3-5.1(g) affidavit, listing the names and addresses of all persons and entities to whom and to which he had sent copies of his suspension order. Respondent's affidavit was sent a year after the it was due (TT 242-243). Respondent also admitted that he did not send the suspension order to some of his clients and opposing counsel, but also stated that he advised them of his suspension just the same. (TT 240-244,247-248). Notwithstanding the foregoing, the bar introduced into evidence a letter respondent sent to the bar during his suspension, demonstrating that respondent was still practicing law at that time. (TT 250-251). The subject letter referenced respondent's law office address and identified him as an attorney (TT 250-252). A suspended Florida attorney is obligated to remove from his office and letterhead any reference to his ability or availability to practice law. Again, the referee heard testimony and considered evidence provided by both sides and decided that the bar's testimony and evidence was the more credible. Thus, the referee correctly found respondent guilty of violating R. Regulating Fla. Bar 3-5.1(g), 4-3.4(c), and 4-8.4(a).

The bar also presented the testimony of Richard Appelman. Mr. Appelman testified that he and respondent had been friends and that respondent had represented him in three separate cases (TT 38-39). One case was a mortgage foreclosure and the remaining two cases were personal injury cases (TT 38-39). Respondent represented Mr. Appelman on a contingency fee basis in all three cases, but failed to prepare or execute a written contingency fee agreement, as required, in any of them (TT 39,42). Mr. Appelman testified there were no written contingency fee agreements and respondent admitted there were no written contingency fee agreements (TT 85-90,269,271). Respondent testified that the mortgage foreclosure case was billed on an hourly basis and was not a contingency fee case (TT 283-284). To support this claim, respondent presented an affidavit submitted in the case, outlining a \$200 per hour fee (TT 283). However, respondent did not keep hourly records and did not charge Mr. Appelman any money during the representation (TT 284-286). Furthermore, respondent did not have a signed retainer agreement of any kind. Mr. Appelman testified that he never paid respondent on an hourly basis (TT 50,88,284). Consequently, the referee rejected respondent's argument and testimony and correctly found that respondent violated R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-1.5(f)(1).

Finally, there is respondent's claim of a retaining lien against Mr. Appelman's client files. Mr. Appelman was indebted to respondent for the \$10,000 respondent gave him against a dishonored third party check. (TT 46, 58-63). This transaction was unrelated to Mr. Appelman's other cases with respondent. Since Mr. Appelman owed respondent \$10,000, respondent would not give Mr. Appelman his client file on his personal injury case, preventing Mr. Appelman from hiring new counsel (TT 52-53). In the end, Mr. Appelman settled the personal injury case himself (TT 53). Respondent testified that he had a binding retaining lien on Mr. Appelman's file due to the \$10,000 debt (TT 271-274). In his initial brief, respondent relies on Daniel Mones, P.A. v. Smith, 486 So. 2d (Fla. 1986) and Wintter v. Fabber, 618 So. 2d 375 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1993), to demonstrate that he correctly could claim a retaining lien against Mr. Appelman's file. However, both of the aforementioned cases hold that an attorney may exercise a retaining lien on a client's property when the client owes the attorney money for unpaid legal fees. Smith, 486 So. 2d at 561; Wintter, 618 So. 2d at 376. While Mr. Appelman owed respondent \$10,000, it was not for legal fees. Mr. Appleman owed respondent \$10,000 because respondent had advanced him funds against what proved to be a bad check. Although Mr. Appelman did owe respondent money, according to Smith and Wintter, respondent did not have a right to a retaining lien on Mr. Appelman's file because Mr. Appelman did not owe respondent money for legal fees. At the time, respondent was representing Mr. Appelman on a contingency basis. He did not settle Mr. Appelman's last personal injury case because their relationship had deteriorated as a result of the aforementioned \$10,000 debt. Respondent never asked Mr. Appelman to pay him (in the personal injury case) on a quantum meruit basis, but he did ask for the return of his \$10,000 (TT 271-274). As respondent did not keep track of the hours he expended on the case (which he claimed was generating hourly fees), and did not provide any evidence as to the amount of money Mr. Appelman may have owed him on a quantum meruit basis (TT 271-274), the referee correctly concluded that respondent exercised the retaining lien to force the repayment of the \$10,000, and not the payment of any legitimately owed legal fees. Accordingly, the referee correctly found respondent guilty of violating R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-1.16(d).

Respondent's final claim of error also fails for lack of evidence. Respondent charged that the report of referee is deficient because the referee did not discuss the facts of the case in sufficient detail and because he did not explain which violation goes with each distinct count of the bar's complaint. This specificity is not required, under any interpretation of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar. The report of referee in this case correctly follows the format provided in the referee manual distributed by The Supreme Court of Florida. This manual requires a narrative summary of the case, and a listing of the rules violated. The referee complied with both requirements. Therefore, respondent's assertion that the report of referee is deficient is misplaced.

II. DISBARMENT IS THE APPROPRIATE SANCTION FOR AN ATTORNEY WHO FAILS TO PROVIDE NOTICE OF HIS SUSPENSION TO HIS CLIENTS AND THE COURT, FAILS TO EXECUTE WRITTEN CONTINGENCY FEE AGREEMENTS WITH HIS CLIENTS IN CONTINGENCY FEE CASES, FAILS TO PROVIDE COMPETENT REPRESENTATION, CHARGES AN EXCESSIVE FEE, AND

# APPEARS IN COURT WHILE SUSPENDED FROM THE PRACTICE OF LAW.

While a referee's findings of fact should be upheld unless clearly erroneous, the Court has complete discretion on the subject of sanctions. The Florida Bar v. Rue, 643 So. 2d 1080 (Fla. 1994). This is because the Court has the ultimate authority to determine the appropriate sanction. The Florida Bar v. Grief, 701 So. 2d 555 (Fla. 1997); The Florida Bar v. Wilson, 643 So. 2d 1063 (Fla. 1994). In The Florida Bar v. Pahules, 233 So. 2d 130 (Fla. 1970), this Court held that three purposes must be served by bar discipline: the judgment must be fair to society; the judgment must be fair to the attorney; and the judgment must be severe enough to deter others attorneys from similar misconduct. This Court has further stated that a referee's recommended discipline must have a reasonable basis in existing case law or the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions. The Florida Bar v. Sweeney, 730 So. 2d 1269 (Fla. 1998); The Florida Bar v. Lecznar, 690 So. 2d 1284 (Fla. 1997). In the instant case, the referee's recommendation of disbarment is supported by existing case law as well as by the Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions. Finally, it conforms exactly to the Court's stated purpose for lawyer discipline.

#### **DUE PROCESS ISSUES**

Respondent has complained that he did not receive the benefit of a separate sanctions hearing. Such a separate, designated sanctions hearing is not required under the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The Florida Bar v. Vannier, 498 So. 2d 896 (Fla. 1986)

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